IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-1660

LOWER TRIBUNAL No. 89-CF-966

DANIEL JON PETERKA,	
Appellant,	
v.	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee.	
INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT	

LINDA McDERMOTT Florida Bar No. 0102857 McClain & McDermott, P.A. 20301 Grande Oak Blvd.

Suite 118 - 61 Estero, Florida 33928 (850) 322-2172 Fax (954) 564-5412

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's summarily denial of Mr. Peterka's successive motion for postconviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 and 3.851.

INTRODUCTION

On November 30, 2009, the United States Supreme Court issued its decision in *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009). There, the United States Supreme Court ruled that this Court's *Strickland* analysis which appeared in *Porter v. State*, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001), was "an unreasonable application of our clearly established law." *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. at 455. Under the Anti-Terrorism Effective Death Penalty Act (AEDPA), the United States Supreme Court was required to give some deference to this Court's application of *Strickland*. It could not grant habeas relief from a state court judgment merely because it disagreed with the state court's application of federal constitutional law. Specifically, habeas relief could only be issued to George Porter if this Court's *Strickland* analysis was not just wrong, but clearly and unreasonably wrong. It is in this context that the United States Supreme Court's ruling in *Porter v. McCollum* must be read.

Mr. Peterka's current appeal requires this Court to engage in an introspective look at the import of the decision in *Porter v.*McCollum and consider whether its own unreasonable analysis in *Porter v. State* was merely an aberration or was it in fact indicative of a systemic failure by this Court to properly understanding and apply *Strickland*.

¹Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

In the relatively recent past, this Court has on two occasions assessed the effect to be accorded to a decision by the United States Supreme Court finding that this Court had misapprehended and misapplied United States Supreme Court precedent. In *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), the United States Supreme Court granted federal habeas relief because this Court had failed to properly apply *Lockett v. Ohio*, 438 U.S. 586 (1978), and find Eighth Amendment error when a capital jury was not advised that it could and should consider non-statutory mitigating circumstances when returning an advisory verdict in a capital penalty phase proceeding. ² In *Espinosa v. Florida*, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992), the United States Supreme Court summarily reversed a decision by this Court which found that *Maynard v. Cartwright*, 486 U.S. 356 (1988), was not applicable in Florida because the jury's verdict in a Florida capital penalty phase proceedings was merely advisory. ³

Following the decisions in *Hitchcock v. Dugger* and *Espinosa v. Florida*, this Court was called upon to address whether other death sentenced individuals whose death sentences had also been affirmed by this Court due to the same misapprehension of federal law should arbitrarily be denied the benefit of the proper construction and application of federal constitutional law. On both occasions, this Court determined that fairness dictated that those, who had not received from this Court the benefit of the proper application of federal constitutional law, should be allowed to re-present their claims and have those claims judged under the proper constitutional standards. *See Thompson v. Dugger*, 515 So. 2d 173, 175 (Fla. 1987) ("We hold we are required by this *Hitchcock* decision to re-examine this matter as a new issue of law"); *James v. State*, 615 So. 2d 668, 669 (Fla. 1993) (*Espinosa* to be applied retroactively to Mr. James because "it would not be fair to deprive him of the *Espinosa* ruling").

²The AEDPA was not in effect at the time of the decision in *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, so there was no need for the United States Supreme Court to determine that this Court's decision was clearly or unreasonably wrong. The United States Supreme Court's review in *Hitchcock* was *de novo*.

³The decision by the United States Supreme Court in *Espinosa v. Florida* was in the course of direct review of this Court's decision affirming a death sentence on direct appeal. The United States Supreme Court's decision was not through the prism of federal habeas review, and thus the United States Supreme Court employed *de novo* review.

Mr. Peterka, whose ineffective assistance of counsel claims were heard and decided by this Court before *Porter v. McCollum* was rendered, seeks in this appeal what George Porter received. Mr. Peterka seeks to have his ineffectiveness of penalty phase counsel claim reheard and re-evaluated using the proper *Strickland* standard that the United States Supreme Court applied in Mr. Porter's case to find a resentencing was warranted. Mr. Peterka seeks the benefit of the same rule of law that was applied to Mr. Porter's ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Mr. Peterka seeks the proper application of the *Strickland* standard. Mr. Peterka seeks to be treated equally and fairly.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 10, 1989, Mr. Peterka was indicted and charged with premeditated first-degree murder in Okaloosa County, Florida (R. 1947-8).

Trial began on February 26, 1990, and on March 2, 1990, the jury found Mr. Peterka guilty of first-degree murder (R. 2042).

The penalty phase was held the following day, on March 3, 1990, and on that same day the jury returned a recommendation of death (R. 2043). The jury recommended that Mr. Peterka be sentenced to death by an eight to four vote (R. 1930).

A sentencing hearing was held on April 25, 1990. The trial court sentenced Mr. Peterka to death (R. 2077-8).

Though identifying numerous errors, on direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Peterka's conviction and sentence. *Peterka v. State*, 640 So. 2d 59 (Fla. 1994).

Following his direct appeal, Mr. Peterka filed a series of Rule 3.850 motions (PC-R. 1-148, 290-336, Supp. PC-R. 168-9). The circuit court ordered that an evidentiary hearing be held, but limited the claims to allegations of ineffective assistance of trial counsel (PC-R. 465-6).

On June 28-29 and July 16, 2001, an evidentiary hearing was held. On May 2, 2002, the circuit court denied Mr. Peterka's Rule 3.850 motion (PC-R. 569-92).

⁴When Mr. Porter's case was returned to the circuit court for a re-sentencing, a life sentence was imposed.

This Court affirmed the denial of relief. *Peterka v. State*, 890 So. 2d 219 (Fla. 2004). This Court also denied Mr. Peterka's petition for writ of habeas corpus. *Peterka v. State*, 890 So. 2d 219 (Fla. 2004).

Mr. Peterka filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in federal district court. On March 29, 2007, the federal district court denied the petition.

Mr. Peterka's was granted a certificate of appealability as to one claim — whether trial counsel was ineffective at his capital penalty phase. The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the denial of relief. *Peterka v. McNeil*, 532 F.3d 1199 (11th Cir. 2008). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on January 26, 2009. *Peterka v. McNeil*, 129 S.Ct. 1039 (2009).

In addition, Mr. Peterka filed a successive Rule 3.851 motion on or about March 10, 2008. On June 26, 2008, the circuit court summarily denied Mr. Peterka's motion.

Mr. Peterka appealed to this Court. On July 23, 2009, this Court denied relief in an order. *Peterka v. State*, Florida Supreme Court Case No. SC08-1413 (Fla. July 23, 2009).

On April 26, 2010, Mr. Peterka filed a *pro se* petition for writ of habeas corpus before this Court. On November 15, 2010, by court order, this Court denied relief. *Peterka v. McNeil*, Florida Supreme Court Case No. SC10-801 (Fla. Nov. 15, 2010).

On or about November 19, 2010, Mr. Peterka filed a successive Rule 3.851 motion based upon *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S.Ct. 447 (2009)(PC-R2. 1-27). On December 1, 2010, the State responded and, in a separate pleading, moved to strike the motion (PC-R2. 28 - 54 and 55 - 59). The circuit denied relief without holding a case management conference on January 12, 2011 (PC-R2. 60-63).

Mr. Peterka filed a motion for rehearing (PC-R2. 64-68). The circuit court granted the motion (PC-R2. 69-70).

After a hearing was held on March 2, 2001 (PC-R2. 301-319), the circuit court permitted Mr. Peterka to amend his motion with a claim concerning the State's lethal injection protocol as constituting cruel and unusual punishment (PC-R2. 73-98).

⁵Because the Florida Department of Corrections has now changed the lethal injections protocol, the circumstances set forth in Mr. Peterka's claim no longer exist. Thus, he does not raise his eighth amendment claim before this Court.

A case management conference was held on May 23, 2011 (PC-R2. 320-413).

Thereafter, on June 15, 2011, the circuit court denied Mr. Peterka's motion. Mr. Peterka timely filed a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. Peterka's capital penalty phase was conducted the day after the jury found Mr. Peterka guilty of first degree premeditated murder. Mark Harllee, Mr. Peterka's trial counsel at his capital penalty phase had been practicing criminal law for less than a year before he was assigned to represent Mr. Peterka (T. 223). In fact, shortly after he was assigned to the felony division he was assigned to represent Mr. Peterka (T. 224).

Mr. Peterka's penalty phase was the second penalty phase in which he participated (T. 224). Trial counsel presented the testimony of his mother, his employer, a friend and girlfriend (R. 1870-1903). Mr. Peterka also testified in his own behalf (R. 1905).

Mrs. Peterka told the jury that her son, Dan, was the eldest of five children. Dan was a good athlete and older brother (R. 1890).

When asked why the jury should recommend life, Mrs. Peterka made an emotional plea to the jury:

Because he is a human being, because he is my son, because he is good, because God created him, because I love him, because his whole family loves him, because he's a friend, because he helps people. It's such a difficult question. It's everything I believe in. He is a child of God. He needs your help. You have my son's life in you hands. I'm not trying to justify anything. I'm trying to beg you to help him and not to destroy him. He has life. He has good to give; he has good to share; and I love him with all of my heart. My words come from my heart.

(R. 1896). Finally, Mrs. Peterka offered the jury a photo album that contained photographs of the Peterka family and Dan when he was younger (R. 1892).

On cross examination, the State asked Mrs. Peterka: "When he was a child he got into quite a bit of trouble with the law?" (R. 1897). The defense objected, but the trial court overruled the objection. The State proceeded to question Mrs. Peterka about her son's non-violent juvenile record (R. 1879-9, 1901-2).

Cindy Rush described Mr. Peterka and told the jury that he was a "caring and understanding" person (R. 1882).

Ruben Purvis testified that Mr. Peterka was a responsible, excellent employee (R. 1871).

⁶Mr. Peterka was indicted on August 10, 1989, and his trial began six months later.

Connie LeCompte testified that Mr. Peterka was wonderful with her children and helped her and her husband a great deal while he lived with them (R. 1876). In fact, Mr. Peterka took care of her children when she was admitted in the hospital for emergency surgery (R. 1877).

Mr. Peterka told the jury: "I feel I have something, something that I can share with society and I would like to keep my life" (R. 1905). He also stated: "I would like to say to John's family and friends, if I thought I could bring him back, John, I would be glad to give you my life (R. 1905).

The jury recommended that Mr. Peterka be sentenced to death by a narrow eight to four vote (R. 1930).

At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Peterka presented evidence of his service in the Minnesota National Guard: In February, 1988, when Mr. Peterka was twenty-one years old, he enlisted in the Minnesota National Guard and was sent to Fort Sill, Oklahoma for training (Def. Ex. 1). He agreed to serve in the military for a minimum of eight years. While at Fort Sill, Mr. Peterka was an outstanding serviceman and was chosen as the platoon leader over sixty individuals (T. 197). He received commendations for his performance, including one for his leadership skills (Def. Ex. 4; T. 197-8).

On February 10, 1989, Mr. Peterka was generally discharged from the National Guard under honorable conditions (Def. Ex. 1).

His discharge resulted from his convictions in Nebraska (Def. Ex. 1).

At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Peterka also testified that during his pretrial incarceration he never had any disciplinary problems at the jail (T. 193). In fact, Mr. Peterka was housed in population, which was rare for someone who was charged with a violent crime, particularly a first-degree murder where the State was seeking the death penalty (T.193). Mr. Peterka remained in population even after the jury recommended the death penalty (T. 193).

Mr. Peterka also testified that following the jury's recommendation that he be sentenced to death, his cellmates successfully escaped from the prison by creating a hole in the roof by which they could use as a tunnel to get outside of the jail (T. 195).

Lieutenant Alan Atkins testified at the evidentiary hearing about Mr. Peterka's pretrial incarceration. Lt. Atkins remembered Mr. Peterka as a former inmate (T. 491). He didn't recall any specifics about Mr. Peterka, but did not think that Mr. Peterka caused any problems (T. 492). He commented that Mr. Peterka's conduct "was a little better than normal" and he was more friendly and respectful to the staff (T. 494)

Had trial counsel investigated Mr. Peterka's pre-sentence incarceration, they would have found that Mr. Peterka was a model inmate who responded well to the structured environment and supervision of incarceration. Trial counsel would have been able to convincingly argue that Mr. Peterka should be sentenced to life in prison rather than death.

And, because the escape occurred prior to Mr. Peterka's sentencing, trial counsel certainly could have introduced the evidence before the judge who sentenced Mr. Peterka to death. Trial counsel did introduce evidence at the sentencing hearing (R. 2056-76).

Further, the evidence of the escape would have been persuasive evidence that Mr. Peterka had the capacity and was already rehabilitated, refused to be a fugitive from the law again and took responsibility for his actions. It also provided evidence to support the argument that Mr. Peterka respected the officers at the jail and could adapt to incarceration. Certainly, evidence of the escape and Mr. Peterka's unwillingness to participate or flee would have changed the outcome of his sentencing hearing.

At the evidentiary hearing, postconviction counsel also presented evidence of Mr. Peterka's relationship with his family, good, helpful nature and nonviolent past (T. 8-118). Trial counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that they wanted to produce anecdotal evidence about Mr. Peterka's past.

Mr. Peterka's jury recommended a death sentence by an eight to four vote. Had only two more jurors voted for life, Mr. Peterka would have been sentenced to life in prison.

Furthermore, the lower court instructed Mr. Peterka's jury on aggravating factors that this Court found were inapplicable. The trial court did not tell the jury about the limiting instructions about each aggravator. Trial counsel had no strategic reason to fail to object to the aggravating circumstances as to both the applicability and the specific instruction.

Likewise, trial counsel failed to prevent the jury from hearing about Mr. Peterka's prior nonviolent juvenile record. During the cross examination of Mr. Peterka's mother, the State questioned her about Mr. Peterka's juvenile record (R. 1897-9, 1901-3). The State argued that the defense had put Mr. Peterka's character at issue. This Court recognized the error on direct appeal. *Peterka v. State*, 640 So. 2d 59, 70 (Fla. 1994).

During its deliberations, the jury requested the documents regarding Mr. Peterka's prior juvenile record. The trial court did not allow the jury to examine the documents because they were not in evidence. Clearly, Mr. Peterka's prior nonviolent juvenile record affected the deliberations and caused some jurors to recommend death.

⁷Furthermore, on direct appeal, this Court found two of the aggravators that the jury heard and judge found had not been established. *Peterka*, 640 So. 2d at 71.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Peterka was deprived of the effective assistance of trial counsel at the penalty phase of his case, in violation of *Porter v.*McCollum, 130 S.Ct. 447 (2009). The decision by the United States Supreme Court in *Porter* establishes that the previous denial of Mr.

Peterka's ineffective assistance of counsel claim was premised upon the Florida Supreme Court's case law misreading and misapplying

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The United States Supreme Court's decision in *Porter* represents a fundamental repudiation of this Court's *Strickland* jurisprudence, and as such *Porter* constitutes a change in Florida law as explained herein, which renders Mr.

Peterka's *Porter* claim cognizable in these postconviction proceedings. See Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922, 925 (Fla. 1980).

ARGUMENT

MR. PETERKA'S SENTENCE OF DEATH VIOLATES THE SIXTH AND EIGHTH AMENDMENTS UNDER THE PROPER STRICKLAND ANALYSIS FOR THE REASONS EXPLAINED IN PORTER V. McCOLLUM.

A. INTRODUCTION

Mr. Peterka was deprived of the effective assistance of trial counsel at the penalty phase of his case. Mr. Peterka presented his ineffective assistance of counsel claim in a Rule 3.851 motion that was initially filed in 1997. Following an evidentiary hearing, the circuit court erroneously denied Mr. Peterka's ineffective assistance of counsel claims. When this Court heard Mr. Peterka's appeal of that decision, it failed to conduct a *de novo* review of legal questions contained within an ineffectiveness analysis and instead employed a standard of review that was highly deferential to the circuit court's erroneous legal conclusions in violation of *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S.Ct. 447 (2009).

The decision by the United States Supreme Court in *Porter* establishes that the previous denial of Mr. Peterka's ineffective assistance of counsel claim was premised upon this Court's case law misreading and misapplying *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The United States Supreme Court's decision in *Porter* was a repudiation of this Court's *Strickland* jurisprudence, and as such *Porter* constitutes a change in Florida law as explained herein, which renders Mr. Peterka's *Porter* claim cognizable in collateral proceedings. *See Witt v. State*, 387 So. 2d 922, 925 (Fla. 1980); *Thompson v. Dugger*, 515 So. 2d at 175 ("We hold we are required by this *Hitchcock* decision to re-examine this matter as a new issue of law"); *James v. State*, 615 So. 2d at 669 (*Espinosa* to be applied retroactively to Mr. James because "it would not be fair to deprive him of the *Espinosa* ruling").

⁸As explained herein, *Porter v. McCollum* held that this Court had unreasonably applied clearly established federal law when rejecting George Porter's ineffective assistance of counsel claim in *Porter v. State*. Thus, Mr. Peterka does not argue that *Porter v. McCollum* announced new federal law. Instead, it announced a failure by this Court to properly understand, follow and apply the clearly established federal law. Thus, the decision is new Florida law because it is a rejection of this Court's jurisprudence. *Porter v. McCollum* was an announcement that this Court's precedential decision in *Porter v. State* was wrong, and in doing so announced new Florida law. This is identical to the rulings in *Hitchcock v. Dugger* and *Espinosa v. Florida*, in which the United States Supreme Court found that this Court had failed to properly understand, follow and apply federal constitutional law.

Mr. Peterka presented his claim under *Porter v. McCollum* to the circuit court in a Rule 3.851 motion in light of this Court's ruling in *Hall v. State*, 541 So. 2d 1125, 1128 (Fla. 1989) (holding that claims under *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, in which the United States Supreme Court found that this Court had misread and misapplied *Lockett v. Ohio*, should be raised in Rule 3.850 motions). At the State's urging, the circuit court refused to find that fairness principles dictated that *Porter v. McCollum* should be treated just like *Hitchcock v. Dugger* and *Espinosa v. Florida*, as new Florida law within the meaning of *Witt v. State*. Accordingly, Mr. Peterka seeks a determination by this Court that he is entitled to have his previously presented ineffective assistance of counsel claims judged by the same standard that the United States Supreme Court employed when finding George Porter's ineffectiveness claim was meritorious and warranted habeas relief.

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