# In the Supreme Court of Florida

#### DANIEL JON PETERKA,

Appellant,

v. CASE NO. SC11-1660

STATE OF FLORIDA,

 ${\it Appellee.}$ 

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Peterka asserts that this Court's prejudice analysis of his claim of ineffectiveness for failing to present military service as mitigation in the initial post-conviction motion was flawed based on Porter v. McCollum, 558 U.S. -, 130 S.Ct. 447, 175 L.Ed.2d 398 (2009). Peterka claims, in his successive Porter motion, that the prejudice analysis conducted in the original motion has to be reassessed with a "full-throated and probing" analysis rather than the previous "truncated" analysis performed in the initial motion.

The successive motion was untimely. The motion was filed 16 years late and there is no exception to the time limitation in the rule that applies. *Porter* did not change the law governing ineffective assistance of counsel claims. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984), was, is, and remains, the law regarding ineffectiveness.

This Court recently held that such successive Porter motions are untimely. Walton v. State, - So.3d -, 2011 WL 5984284 (Fla. December 1, 2011) (No. SC11-153) (holding that the trial court properly denied Walton's second successive postconviction motion because the decision in Porter does not constitute a fundamental change in the law that mandates retroactive application under Witt v. State, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1980)). This Court explained that any claim that "Porter applies retroactively is incorrect and insufficient as a matter of law" because "the decision in Porter does not concern a major change in constitutional law of fundamental significance." "Rather, Porter involved a mere application and evolutionary refinement and

development of the *Strickland* analysis, i.e., it addressed a misapplication of *Strickland*." *Walton*, - So.3d at -, 2011 WL 5984284 at \*5.

Furthermore, the motion is barred by the law of the case doctrine. This Court rejected the same type of argument in Marek v. State, 8 So.3d 1123 (Fla. 2009), and prohibited relitigation. As this Court held in Marek, capital defendants may not relitigate previously denied claims of ineffectiveness every time a new Supreme Court case is decided applying Strickland.

Even if this Court were to allow relitigation of the claim, it should be rejected on the merits. This case is not similar to the facts of *Porter*. There was no deficient performance. Unlike *Porter*, where defense counsel failed to uncover and present the defendant's combat experience that resulted in PTSD; here, in contrast, defense counsel made a strategic decision not to present Peterka's National Guard service. Nor was there any prejudice. Peterka, while in the National Guard for a year, was not in any combat. Peterka did not suffer PTSD as a result of intensive "horrific" combat like *Porter*.

Additionally, his claim of error applies only to the prejudice prong but both prongs of *Strickland* must be met to grant relief. This claim of ineffectiveness was rejected in this court based on a finding of no deficient performance as well as no prejudice. The "full-throated and probing" prejudice analysis Peterka seeks would not change this Court conclusion regarding there being no deficient performance in any manner and therefore, could not result in any

relief. Thus, the successive *Porter* motion was properly summarily denied as untimely, barred by the law of the case doctrine, and meritless.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE SUCCESSIVE 3.851 MOTION ATTEMPTING TO RELITIGATE A CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVENESS FOR FAILING TO PRESENT MILITARY SERVICE AS MITIGATION BASED ON PORTER V. MCCOLLUM, 558 U.S. -, 130 S.Ct. 447, 175 L.Ed.2d 398 (2009)? (Restated)

Peterka asserts that this Court's prejudice analysis of his claim of ineffectiveness for failing to present military service as mitigation in the initial post-conviction motion was flawed based on Porter v. McCollum, 558 U.S. -, 130 S.Ct. 447, 175 L.Ed. 2d 398 (2009). First, the successive motion was untimely. The motion was filed 16 years late and there is no exception to the time limitation in the rule that applies. Walton v. State, - So.3d -, 2011 WL 5984284 (Fla. December 1, 2011)(finding a successive *Porter* motion was untimely). Furthermore, the motion is barred by the law of the case doctrine. As this Court held in Marek, capital defendants may not relitigate previously denied claims of ineffectiveness every time a new Supreme Court case is decided applying Strickland. Even if this Court were to allow relitigation of the claim, it should be rejected on the This case is not similar to the facts of Porter. defense counsel failed to uncover and present the defendant's extensive combat experience that resulted in PTSD. Here, in contrast, defense made a strategic decision not to present Peterka's limited National Guard service. There was no deficient performance. Nor was there any prejudice. Peterka's National Guard service was very limited in duration and did not involve any combat. certainly did not suffer PTSD as a result of intensive combat like

Porter. Thus, the successive *Porter* motion was properly summarily denied as untimely, barred by the law of the case doctrine, and meritless.

# The trial court's ruling

The trial court summarily denied the amended motion. (PC. Vol. I 168-171). The trial court found "the decision in Porter left Strickland intact and did not alter the standards . . ." (PC. Vol. I 169). The trial court found the standard outlined in Strickland . . . was not affected by Porter. (PC Vol. I 170). The trial court found "that there has been no change in the law which would require the Court to consider those claims that have been previously addressed." (PC. Vol. I 170).

#### Standard of review

The standard of review of a trial court's summary denial of a successive 3.851 post-conviction motion is de novo. Darling v. State, 45 So.3d 444, 447 (Fla. 2010) (explaining that because a trial court's summary denial is based on the pleadings before it, its ruling is tantamount to a pure question of law and is subject to de novo review discussing Ventura v. State, 2 So.3d 194 (Fla. 2009)). Rule 3.851(f)(5)(B) permits the denial of a successive postconviction motion without an evidentiary hearing "[i]f the motion, files, and records in the case conclusively show that the movant is entitled to no relief." The phrase "conclusively show" is not limited to factual matters; the phrase also allows a summary denial as a matter of law.

If there is controlling precedent from this Court that is directly on point, then a trial court may summarily deny the successive motion. For example, this Court has routinely affirmed summary denials of lethal injection claims on this basis. See e.g. Tompkins v. State, 994 So.2d 1072, 1081 (Fla. 2008) (noting that this "Court has repeatedly rejected appeals from summary denials of Eighth Amendment challenges to Florida's August 2007 lethal injection protocol since the issuance of Lightbourne" citing cases). A trial court may decided as a matter of law that the movant is entitled to no relief as this trial court properly did.

# Timeliness

The successive 3.851 post-conviction motion was untimely. The rule of criminal procedure governing collateral relief in capital cases contains a time limitation that requires any post-conviction motion be filed within one year. The motion is untimely pursuant to 3.851(d)(1)(B). Under the rule any post-conviction motion must

<sup>3</sup> Specifically, rule 3.851(d)(1), provides:

<sup>(1)</sup> Any motion to vacate judgment of conviction and sentence of death shall be filed by the prisoner within 1 year after the judgment and sentence become final. For the purposes of this rule, a judgment is final:

<sup>(</sup>A) on the expiration of the time permitted to file in the United States Supreme Court a petition for writ of certiorari seeking review of the Supreme Court of Florida decision affirming a judgment and sentence of death (90 days after the opinion becomes final); or (B) on the disposition of the petition for writ of certiorari by the United States Supreme Court, if filed.

be filed within one year of Peterka's convictions and sentence becoming final. Peterka's convictions and death sentence became final on January 23, 1995, when the United States Supreme Court denied his petition for writ of certiorari in the direct appeal. Peterka v. Florida, 513 U.S. 1129, 115 S.Ct. 940, 130 L.Ed.2d 884 (1995)(No. 94-6845). The amended successive motion was filed in April of 2011. The motion is over sixteen years late.

The rule contains three exceptions to the time limitation, none of which apply. The Florida Supreme Court has held that *Porter* did not supply a basis for a newly discovered evidence claim and did not restart the clock. *Grossman v. State*, 29 So.3d 1034, 1042 (Fla. 2010)(finding a trial court's summary denial of a third successive motion to be proper and affirming that the motion was untimely because *Porter* did not change the law regarding consideration of non-statutory mitigation and was not newly discovered evidence). So, controlling precedent holds that the exception for new facts in 3.851(d)(1)(B) does not apply.

<sup>(2)</sup> No motion shall be filed or considered pursuant to this rule if filed beyond the time limitation provided in subdivision (d)(1) unless it alleges:

<sup>(</sup>A) the facts on which the claim is predicated were unknown to the movant or the movant's attorney and could not have been ascertained by the exercise of due diligence, or

<sup>(</sup>B) the fundamental constitutional right asserted was not established within the period provided for in subdivision (d)(1) and has been held to apply retroactively, or

<sup>(</sup>C) postconviction counsel, through neglect, failed to file the motion.

Peterka is attempting to use the exception in rule 3.851(d)(2)(B), which restarts the clock for a new fundamental constitutional right that has been held to apply retroactively. Turner asserts that Porter is a new fundamental constitutional right that applies retroactively. It is not.

In Porter, the Supreme Court per curiam reversed the Eleventh Circuit's finding that the Florida Supreme Court's determination there was no prejudice was a reasonable application of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Agreeing with the district court, the Supreme Court was persuaded that it was objectively unreasonable to conclude there was no reasonable probability the sentence would have been different if the sentencing judge and jury had heard the significant mitigation evidence that Porter's counsel neither uncovered nor presented. Porter did not establish a new constitutional right. Rather, it is merely an application of Strickland to a particular case. The Porter Court merely found prejudice under the existing prejudice framework. Contrary to Peterka's assertion, the Supreme Court in Porter did not change the prejudice analysis - dramatically or otherwise. A claim that counsel was ineffective in violation of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel was, is, and remains, governed by Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) including the prejudice prong. Porter did not overrule Strickland. The Porter Court itself repeatedly referred to Strickland and therefore, reaffirmed the Strickland standard. Porter contains several paragraphs describing the Strickland standard which cited Strickland repeatedly. Porter, 130 S.Ct. at 452-454. This section of the Porter opinion starts with the sentence: "To prevail under Strickland, Porter must show that his counsel's deficient performance prejudiced him" and then cites Strickland six times. Porter, 130 S.Ct. at 452. The Porter opinion ends by once again citing Strickland. Porter, 130 S.Ct. at 456. The Porter Court did not at any point change the prejudice prong of Strickland.

Moreover, the United States Supreme Court had repeatedly referred to the Strickland standard in numerous opinions since Porter. Cullen v. Pinholster, - U.S. -, -, 131 S.Ct. 1388, 1408, 179 L.Ed.2d 557 (2011)(observing that the "Strickland standard must be applied with scrupulous care."); Harrington v. Richter, - U.S. -, -, 131 S.Ct. 770, 787, 178 L.Ed.2d 624 (2011)(discussing the *Strickland* standard). Additionally, this Court has recently discussed the standard for ineffectiveness citing Porter in support of its discussion of the Strickland standard in numerous cases. Hildwin v. State, - So.3d -, -, 2011 WL 2149987 (Fla. 2011); Franqui v. State, 59 So.3d 82, 94-95 (Fla. 2011); Troy v. State, 57 So.3d 828, 836 (Fla. 2011). In one of those cases, this Court stated: "Strickland does not require a defendant to show that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome of his penalty proceeding, but rather that he establish a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in that outcome. Porter v. McCollum, - U.S. -, -, 130 S.Ct. 447, 455-56, 175 L.Ed.2d 398 (2009)(quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693-94)." Troy, 57 So.3d at 836. The Florida Supreme Court obviously does not think that Porter overruled Strickland. Peterka cites no appellate court

decision from any court as describing *Porter* as overruling or significantly altering *Strickland*.

This Court recently held that such successive Porter motions are untimely. Walton v. State, - So.3d -, 2011 WL 5984284 (Fla. December 1, 2011) (No. SC11-153) (holding that the trial court properly denied Walton's second successive postconviction motion because the decision in Porter does not constitute a fundamental change in the law that mandates retroactive application under Witt v. State, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1980)). This Court explained that any claim that "Porter applies retroactively is incorrect and insufficient as a matter of law" because "the decision in Porter does not concern a major change in constitutional law of fundamental significance." "Rather, Porter involved a mere application and evolutionary refinement and development of the Strickland analysis, i.e., it addressed a misapplication of Strickland." Walton, - So.3d at -, 2011 WL 5984284 at \*5.

Peterka attempts to distinguish between "new federal law" and "new Florida law" There is no such distinction in the area of Strickland. When the Supreme Court disagrees with this Court in a Strickland case, that does not change the law of Strickland. Porter did not alter the existing Strickland standard in any manner - state of federal.

Peterka engages in an extensive Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980) retroactivity analysis. But one does not engage in a retroactivity analysis unless there is some change in the law. Strickland applies to this successive motion just as Strickland applied to the initial motion. If the law has not changed, as the

law of *Strickland* has not, then that ends the retroactivity analysis right there. Because there is no change in the law, there simply is no retroactivity issue presented by this case.

Furthermore, the Florida Supreme Court has directly held, in this context - the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel context - refinements or clarifications in Strickland jurisprudence are not retroactive. Johnston v. Moore, 789 So. 2d 262, 266-267 (Fla. 2001) (holding that Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1033-1034 (Fla. 1999), which clarified the standard to be used in reviewing ineffective assistance of counsel claims, was not retroactive under Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980)). In the earlier case of Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1033-1034 (Fla. 1999), this Court clarified the standard of review that applied to Strickland claims of ineffectiveness. But Porter did not even involve a clarification or refinement of the law like Stephens. Rather, Porter was a mere application of standard law to a particular case. The successive motion was untimely.

#### Law of the case

The claim of ineffectiveness raised in the successive 3.851 motion is barred by the law of the case doctrine. Under the law of the case doctrine, questions of law actually decided on appeal govern the case through all subsequent stages of the proceedings. Florida Dep't of Transp. v. Juliano, 801 So.2d 101, 105 (Fla. 2001). A defendant cannot relitigate claims that have been denied by the trial court where that denial has been affirmed by an appellate court. State v.

McBride, 848 So.2d 287, 289-290 (Fla. 2003)(noting that the law of the case doctrine applies to post-conviction motions); Tatum v. State, 27 So.3d 700, 704 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 2010)(finding the claims in a 3.800 motion to be barred by the law of the case doctrine because they were previously addressed by the Third District in an earlier appeal). As the Florida Supreme Court has explained, if a matter has already been decided, the petitioner has already had his or her day in court, and for purposes of judicial economy, that matter generally will not be reexamined again in any court. Topps v. State, 865 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 2004).

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